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Sea officers pose a more than usually daunting prospect to the biographer. Though we may be drawn to maritime subjects by the grandeur of the sea and the drama of life on it, the technicalities of sail are a challenge to both writer and reader, while the blue-coated personalities who commanded tall ships can appear leaden – obscured by nautical jargon and a milieu now strange to us. Perhaps for this reason, fiction has been more successful than biography at bringing such men to life; the name of Hornblower is probably recognised by more general readers than that of Hawke, Aubrey more than Anson. Nelson, as in all things, is the exception, but that is because Nelson represents themes seemingly bigger than even the sea – transfiguration and martyrdom, not to mention sex and scandal.


Edward Pellew actually bestrides both worlds – as Hornblower’s fictional mentor and as captain of the famed Indefatigable; and if his name is now better known from the novels of C. S. Forester than for his true exploits, these still resonated grandly enough in his own time. Pellew can be fairly described as the greatest frigate captain in the age of sail, an incomparable seaman, ferociously combative yet chivalrous, and with a gift for performing eye-catching feats in public. Later in life he commanded a fleet in a bloody and crusading operation to free European slaves in Barbary.


Yet Pellew is a neglected figure, even in the somewhat rarefied field of naval studies. Despite the wealth of available material, his paradoxical spirit – pugnacious but tender, acquisitive yet generous – may have stood in the way of biographers. While they have extolled the doings of Pellew the commander, they seemed to me as I started to explore his life, to have missed much of Pellew the man.


I should admit to having been initially drawn more to the man than the commander. In studying his letters for my last book, Storm and Conquest, I was struck by their warmth. While his education was scanty and his hand so atrocious it can defy transcription, they have an intimacy and a sensibility that are strikingly modern. His love for his men, as well as his friends and fellow officers, was as transparent as his desire for glory and honour. His nature, like his courage, had nothing to do with English sangfroid. It was hot-blooded, elemental. Throughout a long life he campaigned on behalf of individuals he saw as victims of injustice.


His flaws were of a part with this emotional temperament. Left fatherless at the age of eight, with a mother and five siblings, Pellew fought his way from the very bottom of the Navy to the top, and then covered the tracks of his rise from penniless youth to fleet command and a viscountcy. But the scars of childhood distress were never erased and he pursued wealth almost as avidly as he did an enemy frigate. Although there was nothing unusual in this, Pellew’s awkwardness – on top of his impoverished origins he was a clannish Cornishman – attracted the wrong kind of attention. He had none of Nelson’s gift for effortless politicking and, as an outsider with a talent for antagonising his better-born peers, he made many foes. Another boyhood legacy was a fierce protectiveness of his younger brother, a fellow officer whose fallibility he helped to conceal, just as he promoted his sons’ careers well beyond their abilities. In any matter of family, Pellew was blindly and dangerously partisan.




 





There are two previous biographies. The first was commissioned by his elder brother as an exercise in reflected glory soon after Pellew’s death – and published in 1835 in defiance of his beloved wife Susan who denied its author, Edward Osler, access to his papers. Although pure hagiography, the book divided the family. Pellew’s most devoted son, George, scrawled objections on virtually every page, inserting corrections and observations gleaned from Pellew’s confidant and right-hand man, John Gaze. He then spent years transcribing his father’s papers and making notes for an approved biographer.


Almost a century passed without one being found. Eventually Pellew’s descendants passed his papers to the National Maritime Museum at Greenwich on the understanding that its director, Geoffrey Callender, would write the new, long-awaited life. Callender, however, was overworked and passed the task to a promising if opinionated graduate, Cyril Northcote Parkinson, just starting a career as a maritime historian. Within a year Parkinson produced a substantial book, Edward Pellew, Viscount Exmouth, which was published in 1934 and has remained the standard work.


Parkinson had a prodigious intellect – though he is remembered today more for the aphorism of Parkinson’s Law than his contribution to maritime studies – but the life of Pellew, his first foray as an author, was far from his best work. Written in haste, it is wordy, condescending (particularly considering that it came from the pen of a 23-year-old) and simply wrong in some respects, notably in underestimating the difficulty of Pellew’s early years, his attitude to discipline and the nature of the resentment for which he became a target.


The materials for a reappraisal are extensive. The Exmouth papers at Greenwich alone run to thirty-three boxes, each containing hundreds of letters, left in the order in which Parkinson examined them eighty years ago and uncatalogued until recently. The Admiralty Records, the logs and musters of Pellew’s ships, were ignored by Parkinson but give insights into Pellew’s methods. The papers of his friends and enemies, scattered in archives around the country, illuminate the jealousies and feuds that dogged him.


Some finds had the thrill of discovery about them. I visited the house where he spent the last years of his life – now the offices of Teignmouth Town Council, but intact enough to imagine a coach drawing up outside and being met by a pigtailed figure in shabby livery, one of the old admiral’s tars retained as a footman. I also wrote to the 10th Viscount Exmouth, telling him of my interest. Generously, he sent me the family copy of Osler’s biography, with George Pellew’s angry scratchings in the margins; and he suggested a visit to a farm west of Exeter. Leaving the Canonteign valley and the doomed estate that devoured the family fortune, I followed a lane that petered out in a yard and was taken to a barn with a tractor and a mountain of objects covered by tarpaulins. One of these was peeled away to expose a pile of metal trunks with, painted on the sides, ‘Lord Exmouth, Personal Papers’. Inside were the documents compiled by George Pellew for the proposed life of his father.


From these various resources emerged details that added further human dimensions to the portrait. Perhaps the most surprising was the extent to which Pellew’s warrior spirit was scarred by his own countrymen. In more than thirty-six years at sea, most of them at war and exposed in action, he was never wounded by enemy fire; but he suffered repeatedly from the sneering and sniping of his enemies at home, a battering which left him wary and suspicious. Beneath the tough officer exterior lay an unexpectedly vulnerable soul.


Biographers run the risk of identifying themselves too closely with their subjects, of imputing to them qualities and characteristics that did not exist, particularly when these might add to their appeal. I have therefore hesitated to make a connection with fiction and a character popular from novels set in the age of Nelson. Repeatedly, however, I have been drawn back to similarities between Edward Pellew and Patrick O’Brian’s creation, Jack Aubrey. Both were fighting captains sans pareil in single-ship actions. Both were gunnery experts who drilled their every ship for accuracy and speed of fire. Both happened to be strong swimmers with a penchant for going overboard to rescue clumsy or drunken hands. Both sustained warm friendships with gallant enemy captains. Both nurtured entourages of followers who accompanied them devotedly from ship to ship. They were genial hosts at dinners in the great cabin, fond of wine and company, yet implacable and utterly single-minded in battle. They were also unworldly fellows who made a hash of dealing with their superiors. Big men who tended to bulk in later years, they were loving husbands and fathers, yet with an eye that might roam.


O’Brian was touchily guarded about his inspiration for Aubrey. While openly drawing on the exploits of another frigate captain, Thomas Cochrane, he was disdainful of the man himself, insisting that the real model for Aubrey’s character was his own brother. Readers will judge for themselves whether O’Brian was ignorant of his hero’s resonance with Pellew. Either way, he deserves to be remembered, for a life of adventure in the age of sail, and as a man thought by his contemporaries to be the greatest sea officer of his time.



















PROLOGUE


North Africa, 1816
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A year after Waterloo, while the citizens of Europe were looking forward to their first spring at peace in twenty years, a Royal Navy fleet came to anchor where the Sahara Desert meets the Mediterranean Sea. It was a warm morning and a sense of drowsy tranquillity prevailed as a ship’s boat carrying a trio of blue-coated officers, including an extremely tall but stout man in the golden markings of an admiral, put off and was rowed towards the white walls of Tunis.


The naval force commanded by Lord Exmouth was an imposing one, but – at the outset at least – his visit to the Barbary States had no whiff of conflict about it. Indeed, Restoration comedy might have been closer the mark. When the admiral arrived at the Bardo palace it was to find Princess Caroline of Brunswick and a party of aristocratic pleasure-seekers as guests of the Bey. On a cruise, bound for the sights of Athens and Constantinople, the estranged and increasingly rotund wife of the Prince Regent was living in sumptuous style, waited on by slaves and admitted to the company of the harem where, it was unkindly said, she felt thoroughly at home. Her presence in Barbary could only embarrass the British side in what was a highly sensitive diplomatic mission.


On 12 March the Navy party entered the Bardo, a citadel of high arches, colonnades and fountains, coming by way of courtyards studded with Byzantine mosaics to the Bey’s presence. The officers had a reassuring glimpse of the Princess making a discreet departure by a side door ‘to take her farewell of the ladies of the harem’, before they were set on a divan, with coffee and sherbet, to explain the purpose of the visit.


Lord Exmouth had been a commanding presence on Navy vessels for almost forty years and he spoke in terms which, translated, came close to an ultimatum. For centuries, he said, the states of Europe had been dismayed to see their citizens captured by corsairs and brought to Barbary as slaves. Now they required that all Christian slaves should be set free.


This speech might have led to trouble then and there; but the Bey, one of the Navy party noted, was a languid fellow, ‘never in his life known to show any semblance of exertion, except one night when he got out of his bed to murder his brother’. Moreover, Exmouth was, in effect, acting as an intermediary for Naples and Sicily, the European states that had suffered most at the hands of Barbary pirates, and was offering a final ransom payment on their behalf for the slaves’ freedom. When Exmouth left the palace it was with the freedom of hundreds of Europeans assured, and the Bey’s promise that enslavement would cease.


Two weeks later, a similar agreement was reached in Tripoli that set at liberty hundreds more European fishermen and sailors. Proceeding to his next destination, Algiers, Exmouth was in high spirits in reporting to the Admiralty:




I sincerely hope we have finally smoked the horrors of Christian Slavery. We have released 2,500 poor creatures and left the Dungeons empty – I hope for ever.





The author of these words, the subject of this story, cut an improbably bucolic figure on the 98-gun flagship Boyne. A red-faced giant with a round hat on his head, given to wandering his quarterdeck in bare feet, a scarf around his ample waist, he resembled more a rustic from his native Cornwall than a great naval commander. In truth, however, his peculiar appearance was of a part with a reputation grown somewhat dusty. His early glory as the most dashing and successful frigate captain in the Navy’s history was a distant memory. The high-born sneered about his lowly origins. Senior officers gossiped about his cupidity and nepotism, younger ones grumbled that he was critical and ill-tempered. For all the resonance of his title, Lord Exmouth of Canonteign was somehow a lesser figure than his earlier persona, Sir Edward Pellew.




 





As Pellew himself had reflected over years of pacing various quarterdecks, it was a curious business, this question of reputation. A decade earlier, the Naval Chronicle, noting the absurd renown of a single naval commander, had lamented:




that ill-judged and overweening popularity which tends to make a Demi-god of Lord Nelson at the expense of all other officers in the service, many of whom possess equal merit and equal abilities and equal gallantry.





The author had a point; but Trafalgar followed just a few weeks later and the apotheosis of Nelson was complete. Since then Pellew had pondered wryly on the fragility of status, his own diminished by passing years and human jealousy, and though he had only admiration for the great man envied him the timing and manner of his end. Often he yearned for death in battle himself: ‘How sweetly could I give up Life in such a cause.’


Comparing himself with Nelson was not vainglorious. They were contemporaries and had gone to sea as boys within a year of one another. Until they were both well into their thirties, the name more likely to be recognised by the public was that of Edward Pellew rather than Horatio Nelson. The reason was Pellew’s genius for frigate command. In a trio of ships, Nymphe, Arethusa and Indefatigable, he had established ascendancy over the French in single-ship actions at the start of the Revolutionary wars. Years before the fleet battles that revealed Nelson’s greatness, Pellew was lauded by the press – especially The Times which kept a keen journalistic eye on his exploits – and had a following that included the King as well as defeated French officers who would testify to his humanity, his graciousness in victory. Frigate captains were public figures, their glamour enhanced by the prize money they had won and the damn-your-eyes swagger that went with it, and at that time none was more striking than Pellew. An athletic, warm-hearted man of commanding presence and generous purse, he did then, rather more than Nelson with his sometimes odd appearance – ‘like that of an idiot’, thought one female admirer – actually look like a national hero.


Twenty years on, a comparison of their images would have shown Nelson on the Victory, a slight yet princely figure, encrusted with gold, majestic in his power; and Exmouth – or Pellew, as we may choose to think of him – a bluff squire in rough calico breeches and, as he acknowledged (with a touch of exaggeration, for he could still reach the masthead quicker than many of his men), ‘grey as a badger, fat as a pig and running to belly’.


So where, he might have wondered, as his fleet passed down the North African coast to Algiers on the last stage of his Barbary mission, where had it all started to go wrong? There were no simple answers – the wrath of Spencer? the hatred of Troubridge? – to a question that might itself appear rather trite. How Pellew himself traced his rise and fall is not clear. His private letters, breezy and affectionate, give little hint of the ferocious feuds and intriguing that seemed always just across the horizon. But it is clear that the question had come to trouble him. So is the fact that, while Lord Nelson had become a subject of universal veneration, Lord Exmouth was turning in some quarters into a target for vilification. In reputation, the knight errant had become more a robber baron.




 





Six weeks later, on 24 June, the fleet returned home to Spithead. From despatches already received at the Admiralty, it was apparent that Algiers had not crowned Exmouth’s mission with success. Far from having ‘finally smoked the horrors of Christian Slavery’, the admiral had to report that Omar Bashaw was a far more formidable personality than the rulers of Tunis or Tripoli and had refused to free any of his European captives. Moreover, it transpired, tempers had been lost on both sides, leading to a complete breakdown in negotiations.


Other more explosive accounts from Algiers were also reaching England. The admiral and his entourage, it was said, had been set upon at the Dey’s court – had been manhandled by armed thugs known as janissaries. The British consul had been seized and held hostage. Two of Exmouth’s captains had actually been beaten up by a mob while out riding.


For the Navy to have suffered such ignominious treatment was without precedent. An American diplomat in London reported that the affair had ‘excited universal indignation’. A view was abroad that such a thing could never have happened in Nelson’s time. Exmouth’s old rivals in the Navy nodded sagely and gloated quietly. They included Sir Sidney Smith, a flamboyant, capricious fellow with whom he had been on terms of cordial dislike since they were frigate captains twenty years earlier. Sir Sidney had made a personal campaign of Christian slavery, had given his opinion that only he could handle the Barbary rulers and was now reminding anyone who would listen that he’d told ’em so.


Exmouth’s political foes weighed in. A satirical newspaper portrayed him as a grasping bumpkin, ‘a rude, sturdy, boisterous and impudent seaman; a sort of bifrons or Front de Boeuf fellow … who always scents out what is to be got and obtains about double his share of it’. The implication was clear: lord or not, little else could be expected from one who had started out a ship’s boy from Cornwall.


Four days into this turmoil of recrimination, fresh tidings brought a real bombshell.


Bad as the treatment of the Navy party was, far worse had occurred a few days later. On 23 May, hundreds of Sicilian fishermen, given an assurance of British protection, came ashore north of Algiers to celebrate Ascension Day. The Dey’s soldiers arrived to detain them and gunfire broke out. About 200 honorary British citizens had been massacred.


Within a week of his return, Exmouth was on a coach back to Spithead. If he had his critics at the Admiralty, he had supporters too and they had given him one last mission: to punish the Algerines and liberate all Christian slaves. That he would fail seemed quite probable. He had seen no real fighting for almost twenty years, had never commanded a major fleet action and, if it came to conflict, he would be attempting the most ambitious attack of its kind since the Battle of Copenhagen. Yet he exulted as he went.




 





Few realised that Exmouth’s final campaign was also a personal crusade. Like any seaman, he was familiar with the lateen sails of the Barbary xebecs that preyed on vulnerable European and American vessels. Quite how many Christians had been taken into slavery over the previous three centuries was, and remains, uncertain, although academic studies have put it at well over a million. Thanks to naval power, British seamen were by and large safe. But there had been a time when the xebecs had ranged far to the north. When Edward Pellew was a lad, Cornish folklore was rich in tales of corsairing raids on land and sea in which some 10,000 seamen and coastal residents had been enslaved. Among them was Thomas Pellow, a ship’s boy who spent twenty-three years in Barbary, returning home to write a memoir of his captivity and dying a few years before Edward’s birth. Thomas had been kin, a member of an extended Cornish clan.


So Lord Exmouth had his cause – and he had his challenge. Algiers was a walled citadel, with cannon bristling from fortified batteries. Nelson, victor of Copenhagen, had declared that the minimum force needed to subdue it would be ten ships of the line. Exmouth had made his own assessment, based on a study of the port, and was setting out with five.


He knew the risks. He had wealth, title, estate and family, but what mattered now was reputation and here was one last chance to reclaim it. Should he fail, he had no wish to return; privately he had expressed more than once a desire to die on his quarterdeck.


That he contemplated such a fate is indicated by the last letter he wrote a few hours before sailing. Dated 20 July and addressed to his eldest son, Pownoll, it began, ‘When this reaches you the Father who loves you will be no more …’


It was a fond and touching farewell from a man for whom family and the Royal Navy had always rivalled one another in importance. However, it also tends to raise a suspicion that Exmouth may have been considering death in battle as an alternative to disgrace, rather than as the final, sublime glory won by Nelson. A single line at the last hinted at the demons that beset and haunted him:




I have been basely & vilely belied, but Truth will at last prevail for I am innocent.

























PART ONE


EMERGENCE

























1.


A Turbulent Boy, 1757–1775
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It may be said of more than one great seafarer that he was born to the sea, but the life of Edward Pellew was virtually defined by it. He was born beside the sea, he died by the sea, and for all but a few months of the seventy-seven years in between he was either on it or in sight of it. He had taken his first steps on the quarterdeck of his father’s brig as a small boy. So it was perhaps appropriate that his earliest rite of passage, one marking a disastrous turn in his family’s fortunes, was a voyage.


In the spring of 1765 – some fifty years before the events previously described – a widow and her six children were preparing for a journey across southern England. Following the death of her husband, Constantia Pellew was returning to her family home and faced the daunting prospect of transporting her little brood the entire breadth of the land, from Dover in the south-east, to Penzance in the extreme south-west, a distance of 300 miles through the countryside, by coach and cart. In the event, because of Samuel Pellew’s seafaring connections, word was passed around the taverns of Dover and they were found a far easier passage down the coast, by sea.


Edward Pellew and his sister Catherine had been born in Dover eight years earlier, on 19 April 1757. Although a twin, he grew sturdily and proved his fighting spirit early on by surviving a bout of smallpox with no worse effect than a pockmarked face. His father’s death was a sterner test. Samuel Pellew had been a captain in the maritime postal service based at Dover, a member of a powerful seafaring clan and a somewhat piratical figure: packet captains were not always respectable, being sometimes complicit in smuggling and other illegal profiteering; but they were usually prosperous.1 Samuel’s death cost the family their sense of well-being, and any assurance as to the future. His widow had no option but to turn to her parents for support.


The tiny thatched cottage where Edward spent the next five years still stands on the western outskirts of Penzance, a charming relic of the sort favoured as a retreat by today’s urban dwellers. Even then it was no hovel. Though snug for its nine occupants, it was quite substantial for one of the tenants of the Lord of Alverton Manor: the six children slept above a barn, there were two small bedrooms for Constantia and her parents, and a fire kept them warm around the table downstairs. Nor did the children experience other aspects of the grinding poverty known to most families deprived of their breadwinner, for Constantia’s father was not without means. In a home where both food and education were available, they were far from being consigned to the lowest order of English society.


Over those years Edward harvested apples for tenant farmers, herded cows and attended school. But a boy used to gazing out on an infinite blue was never content looking in on farms and orchards; and, progressively, he sought to escape from this pastoral, back to the soothing of the sea. Much more painful than their new austerity was evidence of his family’s continued disintegration.


Constantia is described in family memoirs as a woman of extraordinary spirit. That may have been a euphemism for heartlessness, or at least a lack of emotional connection with her six children. Still a relatively young widow, she married secondly a Penzance man named Samuel Woodis, a gardener and a mercer – and a bit of a chancer; and because he would not accept her offspring under his roof she moved away from them, which seemed like another abandonment. The match was a bad one, ‘imprudent’ it was said. Woodis had little money and may have hoped to profit by the connection. If so he miscalculated. Constantia’s father, Edward Langford, wrote her out of his will and she and her new husband later ran into financial difficulties.2


The distress of Constantia’s children was far greater. One said that, by the marriage, she ‘deprived [them] of their remaining parent and threw them upon the world with scanty resources, and almost without a friend’.3 The effect on Edward – aged ten when his mother left the cottage at Alverton – can be seen as a thread running through his life: in boyhood it was reflected in a kind of bewildered pugnacity; in adulthood it endured as a fierce loyalty to family that over-rode all other considerations.


Tales attaching to the early years of historical figures, of bold deeds that chime with the known man, are properly regarded with suspicion. In Edward Pellew’s case, though, the folklore has some resonance, combining accounts of boyish escapades with hints of a darker side. He was a strapping, boisterous lad, quick with his fists and known for using them against others twice his size. At the same time he lorded it over smaller ones, and while he would also act as their protector, they had to demonstrate fealty; already, it might be said, he exhibited the tendencies of a ship’s commander. Many years later, an old schoolfellow still harboured ambivalent feelings about the boy who had gone on to win national renown, writing: ‘I confess I rather stood in awe of him; though with his high spirit he had a very kind heart’; and, more revealingly: ‘Pellew would never suffer the weak to be trampled upon … But I think he once thrashed me.’4


Among these vulnerable boys in the background we may glimpse the first of Edward’s dependants, and a key figure in his life – his younger brother Israel.


They were four brothers in all. Samuel stood apart, being the eldest and receiving the benefit of what financial means there were. Edward, the second-born, took the two youngest, Israel and John, under his wing. Well into adulthood Israel remained there, overshadowed in every way by the brother sixteen months his senior. In this intense boyhood, the two sisters, Catherine and Jane, are rarely visible. The children grew up under the hand of their grandmother, Katherine, with the patriarchal figure of her husband in the background.


Had he been a boy in any other part of England, Edward’s visceral connection to the sea might have lain dormant; but Cornwall had an especially rich seafaring tradition, based on its fishing grounds and on its south-west exposure, which opened on shipping lanes leading to the great world beyond. This hinterland was a life-shaping force in other ways too. Cornish folk had in their isolation a regional identity that many saw as a kind of nationhood – a language, a local pride and yet strangely also an ardent loyalty to the distant Crown that had been manifested during the Civil War. Even ‘the lower classes’, local historians asserted, ‘employed in pursuits which require observation and judgment, and familiarized to danger in their mines and fisheries, are peculiarly thoughtful and intrepid’. Similar qualities were doubtless to be found among common folk elsewhere. What still makes this relevant is how it resonates with the character of young Pellew.


While Edward’s schooling was desultory he was clearly bright, although in his state of rebellion that went barely noticed. He would abscond regularly from school to go down to the fishing quay at Penzance, where his toughness was admired and, a childhood friend recalled, he was ‘taught to be a famous boxer by his friends the sailors’. Here, too, restored to the water, Ned ‘would spring into the first boat he found afloat, cast off the painter, and away to sea’.5 Unusually among seamen, he became a strong swimmer, and his affinity with the sea was enlarged – for it would please him not only to be on it, but in it.


Matters came to a head when he was sent away to the grammar school in Truro and, perhaps because this was one upheaval too many, became a fist-flailing fury. After various scraps, he beat another boy badly enough to be sentenced to a flogging by the head. Rather than submit, he ran away, back to Alverton, where he announced he was going to sea. He was thirteen.
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Cape Cornwall from Land’s End. This scene, a few miles from where Edward Pellew grew up, would greet him throughout his life as he was homeward bound.








The decision was not welcomed by his grandfather. That devout old man had hoped he would go into trade, and if his admonition, as related by family lore, sounds somewhat apocryphal – ‘Do you know that you may be answerable to God for every enemy you kill? And if I can read your character you will kill a great many!’ – it is clear the boy went to sea without help from him. Langford established trusts of £200 for each grandchild, but until Pellew reached his majority he would have no financial support.6 In a Navy officer’s career, that signified.




*





The day after Christmas in 1770 a sturdy adolescent came on board the frigate Juno at Spithead. A gale bringing rain blew across the deck and it was very, very cold.7 Below he was met by a sight that to modern eyes would have resembled a grotesquerie by Hogarth.


The gundeck of a 32-gun frigate was home along its 130-foot length to some 200 men. It was unlit and unheated, and they were by and large unwashed. As well as being gloomy and bitterly cold, it was damp, fetid and so cramped the men had, in effect, to sleep in shifts. Each hammock was allowed a width of 14 inches – although because of the watch system the men had in theory 28 inches in which to spread themselves. A ship of war was still one of the most crowded habitats to be found anywhere in the supposedly civilised world. When the Portsmouth women came on board it was for reasons of space as well as discretion that their services were enjoyed between the carriages of the guns. Scarcely more room was available forward on the foc’sle, where were found the off-watch leisure area and the ‘heads’, where men squatted over the bows and defecated directly into the sea.


Virtually every Englishman who rose to high command in the great age of sail entered this hugger-mugger as a boy. Three weeks after Pellew, a twelve-year-old midshipman named Horatio Nelson joined his first ship at the Nore.8 What sets Pellew apart in such company is that at a time when either fortune or patronage was a prerequisite for promotion, he began with neither. Because this runs counter to the accepted version of his entry to the Navy provided by his biographer Northcote Parkinson, and because it is a key to the man who became Lord Exmouth, it needs exploring.9


Quite how Pellew came to be on the Juno at all is uncertain, but it would seem that, in the autumn of 1770, her captain, John Stott, was recruiting hands on a visit to his native Cornwall when they met. Now, it has been said that the Pellew clan in Flushing were involved in this vital first step and that, moreover, their influence secured protection from Stott for the boy, ensuring his passage to the quarterdeck. There is no evidence for this. While the Pellews were an established seafaring family, the fortune made by Samuel’s father as a merchant captain had been dissipated; the Pellew family in general, living a day’s journey from Penzance, seem to have taken no great interest in Samuel’s children at this time. The Pellew name may have counted for something with Stott at their meeting, but the lad joining the Juno received no preference from her captain.


That tends to be confirmed by the ship’s muster. Boys marked for advancement entered as midshipmen or captain’s servants, starting an apprenticeship in which they would do time in the tops while being spared more rigorous service. On the Juno, no fewer than seven boys had been designated as captain’s servants, and not all were well-connected. Some had come from the Marine Society, a charity founded partly to get urchins off the streets and give them an occupation.10 Edward Pellew entered as the purser’s servant, making him more junior than even the lowliest of these.11


Another sign of his low ranking is seen in an entry stating that he had been provided with ‘slops’ (clothes), at a cost to his master, the purser, of 13 shillings and twopence.12 In short, he entered with virtually no clothes, and no money, as well as no status. All these factors tell against Northcote Parkinson’s conclusion, that ‘it would be a mistake to suppose that he started his naval career under peculiar difficulties … His social position was rather above than below the average. He was poor but only moderately so.’13


In the raw world of the lower deck, Pellew could look after himself. But what mattered most in the career of a young sea officer was ‘interest’, in other words influential relatives, and he had none of those. Among the Navy’s natural hierarchy he was, and would always be, an outsider.


To start with, he and Nelson did have one thing in common. Both had entered in a general mobilisation arising from a crisis after Spain’s seizure of the Falkland Islands, a British colony so insignificant (as Samuel Johnson pointed out at the time) few had ever heard of it. But if Pellew’s imagination was fired with visions of battle and glory, he was to be rapidly disabused. The Juno stayed at Spithead for another three months, during which he discovered that routine rather than action was the regular part of a seaman’s life. This time was notable in one respect, however, for marking the start of a lifelong friendship.


Frank Cole was the same age as Pellew. Although without his physical advantages – he seems to have been somewhat sickly – he was better connected, and had entered as captain’s servant. More significantly he was Cornish, hailing from Marazion, a fishing village across the bay from Penzance, and over the next five years Edward and Frank became inseparables.


Companionship is a neglected aspect of the seafarer’s world. In our time Jack Tar’s life has become synonymous with misery. The general perception is of a form of slavery defined by press gang and lash, disease and drunkenness, and it bears noting, therefore, that most seamen embraced it willingly, some heartily. Beyond the simple incentives – free food and drink, and medical care of sorts – lay the prospect of adventure, prize money and membership of a proud and powerful tribe.


That tribalism now enfolded Pellew, providing the security lacking in his life so far, as well as the fellowship of shared endeavour and a theatre for his abilities. From the time he went to sea, boyish belligerence gave way to aspects of his nature that were its more true counterpoint, warmth of heart and generosity of spirit. While he would make enemies – and often dangerously potent ones – his real and greater gift was for friendship.




*





After agonisingly dull months and false starts at anchor, the Juno sailed in the spring of 1771 and immediately Pellew was liberated. From scraping the ship’s sides and holystoning decks, he went aloft and found what he was born for.


Of the qualities required by an able seaman in the age of sail, one in particular stands out: physical prowess. Climbing ratlines to the yardarms and inching out along them, unfurling a weight of billowing canvas and hauling it in, balancing on footropes while swaying eighty feet above the sea – and all in conditions ranging from light squalls to sail-shredding gales – took not only nerve but strength and agility.


Still only thirteen, Pellew was big enough to pass for sixteen in the Juno’s muster book.14 He was also naturally athletic, revelling in exertion, and his title of purser’s servant was nominal, his duties a mere stepping stone to the real business of becoming an able seaman. It was not long before he was to be seen racing to the tops and out on the yards, performing gymnastic feats with a wild-eyed exhilaration which, enacted in front of gnarled older hands, may first have been regarded with tolerant amusement, but in time won fond admiration. A lieutenant, recalling how the boy Pellew used to sport in the tops, marvelled: ‘He was like a squirrel.’15


One of the better descriptions of life on the lower deck was left by an able seaman of the time (for if tars were usually illiterate there are notable exceptions):




A vessel of war contains a little community of human beings, isolated, for the time being, from the rest of mankind. This community is governed by laws peculiar to itself … Each task has its man, and each man his place. A ship contains a set of human machinery, in which every man is a wheel, a band or a crank, all moving with wonderful regularity and precision to the will of its machinist – the all-powerful captain.16





The all-powerful captain … In the first of these omnipotent characters to figure in his life, Pellew was fortunate. John Stott might have paid little attention to the Cornish boys, left to make their way among the seamen, rated ordinary and able, the gunners, carpenters, sailmakers and the rest; but he was a decent commander, which is to say an able seafarer who kept his men busy, seldom lashed them and identified ability.17 When Pellew and Cole came to his notice for their talents he rewarded them by promotion; and later, when he did punish them, it is fair to assume there was good reason.


The Juno was accompanied by the Florida, a supply ship, and the sloop Hound, a slow dog that had to be hastened along by signals from the frigate’s cannon. Nevertheless, after sailing from Tenerife on 16 May, they made steady south-westerly progress, through intermittent squalls which kept hands occupied in the tops and the discovery of a leak in Juno’s hull that required days of exertion at the pumps until it could be located and made good. Completion of the Atlantic crossing was recorded by the log on 17 July, ‘Southward of the Sugar Loaf Hill. Distance of the shore 3 leagues. Moderate and clear.’


Trivial in itself, entries like this, recording Juno’s arrival in Rio, are revealing of a larger picture. Every day of Pellew’s service – or any other seafarer’s – is recorded in journal form, a diary of events dramatic or mundane, showing his exact whereabouts and doings, whether handling foresails in his youth or commanding a man of war in his prime. Ship’s logs may tell us what men ate on a given day, who suffered the captain’s displeasure and was flogged, and who died and was seen over the side by his shipmates (who would then auction his few possessions among themselves). The logs cast a light into hidden corners of battle and exploration and all the smaller dramas of the wooden world hundreds of years ago.


It was a ship’s log that recorded the prosaic end to the first Falklands crisis. Spain had backed down even before the departure from Spithead of Juno and her consorts, and when they came in sight of Saunders Island in mid-September, the final act was a formality.18




September 16: At noon the captain & a party of Marines went on shore and took possession of Port Egmont. The Marines after hoisting His Majesty’s colours fired 3 volleys of small arms.





It was more anti-climax than high drama, but Pellew and his friend Cole could at least console themselves that they had been in at the end. Among the other ships mobilised for war, the Raisonable (with young Midshipman Nelson) never stirred from Chatham.


To top off Pellew’s first sea adventure, the Juno flew home, studding sails filled, coming in sight of the Lizard, England’s southernmost point, on a hazy winter’s day. On 12 December, the log records, the crew was paid off and 300 pounds of fresh beef and 30 butts of beer were received on board. So, too, no doubt, were boatloads of women from Portsmouth – and the gundeck was filled with cheer and tobacco smoke as they fiddled and danced and drank. Savouring it all were the boys, Pellew and Cole. They were home for Christmas.




*





Pellew returned to Penzance at the end of 1771 to find the family circumstances had taken a turn for the better. His grandfather Edward Langford had prospered, and Pellew’s elder brother Samuel, now aged sixteen, was being educated for a medical career. The old man’s disapproval of the sea life may have lost its edge, for Edward’s younger brother, thirteen-year-old Israel, had just followed him into the Navy, while the youngest, John, twelve, was set on joining the Army. With Edward’s twin Catherine and Jane, nine, they could all gather beside the festive hearth to hear of his adventures.


It is unlikely that their mother, Constantia, joined them. She had by now produced another set of twins, but her husband, Samuel Woodis, was, it seems, still ostracised by her family and his business may already have been in trouble.19


Whatever the ups and downs of this return home, Pellew’s paramount concern was when it would end so he might get back to sea. Seamen then did not join the Navy, they signed on to a ship, and the passing of the Falklands crisis meant an end to mobilisation. Britain was at peace with the world, stringency was in the air and Pellew was far from being the only young fellow eyeing his prospects with anxiety. Many others with far weightier backing than he, midshipmen and higher, found themselves ashore and unable to find a ship.


Fortunately, his old captain had a new command. By summer Stott was back in Cornwall, recruiting again, and signed on not only Pellew but Cole as well.20 Stott had been given the Alarm, a 32-gun frigate with an innovative copper-sheathed hull that lent her speed. Her most recent captain had been one John Jervis. (It was a small world, this Navy. Jervis – the future Lord St Vincent – was to play a significant role in Pellew’s life, first as his ardent supporter, later as an implacable foe.)


Pellew was back at Spithead on 3 August, coming on board just in time to be given six months’ pay in advance and two weeks’ leave of absence with the rest of the crew.21 Having passed his fifteenth birthday, he was perhaps also of an age to appreciate some of the earthier pleasures offered in the lanes and taverns of Portsmouth.




*





A few weeks after sailing in the Alarm, Pellew was rated able. Now the complete seaman, he wore loose canvas breeches known as trowsers, a white checked linen shirt with a bright knotted handkerchief at the neck, and a blue double-breasted jacket. A second jacket, coated with tar for waterproofing in foul weather, had earned the British seaman his popular name, Jack Tar. Six months later, aged sixteen, Pellew was made up to master’s mate.22 Whether because he had performed outstandingly in his captain’s eyes, or Stott was favouring a fellow Cornish native, this was a meteoric rise.


The Alarm was bound for the Mediterranean, calling at ports which were to become familiar – Lisbon, Gibraltar, Mahon, Leghorn (Livorno), Genoa, and, because a state of peace existed with France, Toulon and Ajaccio (where a toddler named Napoleon was taking his first steps towards European domination). A year into their cruise, she came to anchor off Algiers and Pellew was presented with his first view of this formidable bastion.


Barbary – the name came from the Arabic word Berber for the inhabitants of North Africa – occupied a dark place in the minds of seamen. Algiers was the most powerful of the Barbary States, with a fearsome reputation among the people of the Mediterranean, some 175,000 of whom had been enslaved over the previous century, even though the corsairs’ power was by then on the wane.23 But when their reach was greatest, in the seventeenth century, Barbary corsairs had ventured as far north as the British Isles and British seamen, too, had seen thousands of their number taken into shackles on galleys, the great majority from Cornwall and the West Country.24 Among them was Thomas Pellow.


Thomas was a fairly typical member of the Pellew clan – other variations of the name, French in origin, included Pellaw, Pellor and Peliew. Born near Falmouth and with seafaring connections, he was eleven when he joined an uncle’s ship, bound for Genoa in 1715 but captured by corsairs off Cape Finisterre. Just what occurred over the twenty-three years he spent as a captive in Barbary, whether or not he embroidered his experiences, has been the subject of debate among historians; but by Pellow’s own admission he enjoyed sufficient freedom after converting to Islam and joining the Sultan’s army of European renegades that he married and eventually was able to escape and return to Cornwall. In writing about his sufferings, Pellow tended to pass over these ambiguities while making much of ‘the Manners and Customs of the Moors, the astonishing Tyranny and Cruelty of their Emperors’. The result became a best-seller in a genre now known as the captivity narrative.25 This epic cannot have escaped the attention of one who was not only a fellow seaman but a kinsman; nor would it have failed to impress him. Long before it became his mission to eradicate Christian slavery, Edward Pellew was aware of the slaves’ plight.


There was no inkling of trouble when the Alarm put in at Algiers in October 1773. A peace treaty had existed for almost a century and Britain kept a consul at the court of the Dey. Underlying tensions became clear, however, when the consul was rowed out, bearing a letter to Stott from the Dey demanding that any slaves escaping to the ship should be returned.26 A veiled threat was offset by a cordial gesture, as the log records:




October 16: Rec’d a present from the Dey for the Ship’s company – 3 Small Bullocks, 9 Sheep, some bread and vegetables.





While these offerings were eaten Stott went ashore for an audience with the Dey, whose warmth turned to wrath when the captain refused to undertake to return slaves seeking sanctuary. Stott was dismissed. Next day, the consul came on board. He had been expelled.


This spat, one of many to come, had no enduring impact on diplomatic ties with Barbary. On the lower deck, though, the Dey’s capricious despotism was remembered by the young Pellew. The Navy was still some years from fashioning British mastery at sea, and for the time being its seamen remained as susceptible to the utterly unpredictable as any others.




*





Five years after taking ship together as boys, Pellew and Cole had become as close in their respective careers as they were in friendship. They were both eighteen and had risen in virtually simultaneous promotions, first being rated able, then master’s mates and finally midshipmen. This last was the most significant, especially for one with so little influence as Pellew, for it marked him as a potential officer. At this point an incident occurred that led to Stott sending the pair simultaneously from the ship in disgrace.


Two versions of what happened while the Alarm was at Mahon in August 1774 have been passed down. Both are partial to Pellew (coming as they did from his family) and neither is very convincing. The ship’s records, often revealing, do not help, for the muster is opaque and the log for the relevant period has disappeared.


At the bottom of it, seemingly, was a mistress whom Captain Stott kept on the Alarm. According to the first version, Cole had an altercation with the lady after driving her pet fowl off the quarterdeck.27 The second is that Cole drew a lewd caricature of her and was found by the captain chortling over it, schoolboy fashion, with Pellew.28 The common feature is that Cole was the object of Stott’s wrath, that the captain turned him out of the ship, and that Pellew only went because he insisted gallantly on sharing his friend’s fate.


This does not quite square with the little surviving evidence. Pellew and Cole are noted in the muster as having been discharged ‘in lieu’, which clarifies nothing.29 But both came to Stott’s attention again a few years later, when each was being examined for lieutenant. Cole was able to produce ‘journals and certificates of diligence’ from previous captains – including, presumably, Stott. However, Pellew was not. Admiralty records show the board was told his ‘want of journals and captain’s certificates’ could be overlooked under a special dispensation.30 There was good reason for this, because he had just become a hero. But the question does arise why Stott did not provide a certificate for one who had served him well for five years; the most likely conclusion is that, whatever passed between the captain’s mistress and the two mids, Pellew rather than Cole was the culprit.


The cause was not, however, serious enough to warrant the opprobrium of the Alarm’s two aristocratic lieutenants, Keppel and Seymour, who treated it all as a prank and helped the errant youths with money and advice when they were sent ashore at Mahon. They got home by signing on aboard a merchantman.


Pellew and Cole would stay the closest of friends, and serve together again as captains. But at this point their careers diverged. Pellew was poised for a life-changing twist of fortune … and his first taste of war.
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2.


War for the Lakes, 1776–1780
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While Pellew was learning the ropes in the Mediterranean, world-shaking events had been unfolding across the Atlantic. By the time he reached home, late in 1775, tensions between the American colonists and the Crown had turned to conflict. He may have been in time to hear of George III’s declaration to Parliament on 26 October that the rebellious colonists were intent on ‘establishing an independent empire’; he was certainly among the Navy’s early recruits as it prepared for war.


He was, however, starting over again – at the bottom. Though there might have been no lasting disgrace arising from his dismissal by Stott, there could be no question of picking up where he had left the Alarm, as a midshipman with the potential for promotion. At Chatham, on a bitter day in February 1776, twenty-two men described in the muster as ‘the Totnes volunteers’ came aboard the frigate Blonde. They were a motley crew, drawn from Devon and Cornwall and including six landsmen – which is to say complete lubbers – as well as a few experienced hands. Their chief distinction was having entered freely rather than being rounded up in a press. Among them was Ned Pellew. He was back in the tops as a common seaman, rated able.1


But fate had thrown him a wild card. The Blonde’s captain was one Philemon Pownoll, a rising star among a brilliant new officer generation. Pownoll was more than just a dashing commander – though his part in taking one of the richest prizes in history, the Spanish treasure ship Hermione in 1762 with a mere sloop, was no small distinction.2 He was an innovator. Not all his experiments were successful, notably his attempt to distil potable water from the sea. However, in observing talent on the lower deck, and giving it the incentive to shine, he was well ahead of his time.


Pellew came to his attention early on, possibly through the young man’s increasingly theatrical bent. The story was told how, just before the Blonde sailed for America, carrying General John Burgoyne, the Army commander came on board and was astonished to see, among the hands manning the tops in salute, one performing a handstand out on a yardarm.3 This first glimpse was the start of an improbable but warm association between the general and a lowly seaman. Aged twenty, Pellew had entered his manhood. Big, confident and with a touch of the show-off about him, the ‘squirrel’ was becoming a lion.


Pownoll soon took note. Within weeks of entering the Blonde, Pellew was among a few able hands identified by the captain for advancement. He was briefly made up to midshipman, then reduced to master’s mate two months later, while another hand was given a trial as midshipman.4 Pownoll, it seems, thought Pellew’s exuberance required tempering. It is a mark of his wisdom that Pellew himself later recognised Pownoll had been right.


On 5 April, the Blonde sailed in convoy with twenty transport ships, carrying troops to war – not in America, but Canada.




*





The American Revolution was the making of Edward Pellew. He would be unique among British seamen in being commended for gallantry in a battle fought not at sea but on a lake; and for going on to win his spurs with the Army. Arguably, no other naval officer would have desired such landlubberly distinctions. They were crucial, however, to the rise of one who was ever the outsider.


His duties took him far inland. He was often to be found felling, dragging, hauling or carrying timber across an unruly landscape of forests, rapids and snow. The terrain was tough, the conditions were brutal – hunger and hardship were constant, and months were spent in icebound isolation amid temperatures falling to -30 °C. All this was almost a sideshow to events further south, where George Washington was conducting the war against William Howe, the British commander. But the battle for the lakes on the Canada border seemed crucial enough at the time, and though it was never going to affect the eventual outcome, it might have delayed it.


British strategy was based on the principle of isolating New England from the rest of the rebellious colonies. The key to this, in turn, was controlling the waterways running north to south between Quebec and New York – the St Lawrence–Lake Champlain–Hudson corridor. The previous December, an American army had crossed the Maine wilderness to attack Quebec – a bold project which, though it ended in defeat, left the force still in effect besieging the British stronghold. On 8 June 1776, a few days after Blonde came to off Quebec, delivering Burgoyne’s army, the siege was lifted and the Americans retreated to Montreal.


With matters thus in the balance, and just a few months in hand before winter again froze the waterways, Burgoyne’s objective was to drive the Americans from Canada and shift his troops the 120-mile length of Lake Champlain from north to south, then to pursue the rebels down the Hudson, all the way to New York. His chief obstacle was a maritime force under Benedict Arnold which had established control of the lake. On its shores a race now began as the Navy embarked on a boat-building programme that would enable them to match the Americans. To this end, men were sent from the fleet off Canada for what became known as the Lakes Service.


By 12 August the Blonde had edged up the St Lawrence to Trois Rivières, a former French settlement seized six years earlier as Britain consolidated its control over Quebec. Here a longboat put off and Captain Pownoll wrote in his log: ‘Sent a mate and 15 men for the service of the Lakes.’5 Pellew was the mate, and this was his chance.


His commanding officer was Lieutenant John Schanck. A latecomer to the Navy with an artisan background and now in his late thirties, Schanck was a curiosity. He had none of the polish associated with the officer class and, like Pellew, was without connections. His gifts were for carpentry and ship design, and both were fully exploited on Lake Champlain. A rudimentary shipyard had been established at St John’s (now St Jean), the northernmost navigable point of the lake, where, with 700 seamen and Marines, Schanck was supervising the construction of a flotilla to do battle for Champlain.


It was a prodigious feat. The shipyard lay thirty miles south-east of Montreal and was cut off from it by a series of rapids, so everything required at St John’s in the way of stores and equipment had to be carried across the last twelve miles. So did a ship, the Inflexible, of 180 tons, and two schooners, Maria and Carleton, which were brought up the river from Montreal to a spot called Chambly, then dismantled, manhandled around the rapids to St John’s and reassembled. Guns for these vessels, including some 24-pounders, had likewise to be carried. To the fore during this remarkable exercise was the Blonde’s strapping master’s mate. Lieutenant Schank noticed him soon enough. And such was Pellew’s activity and – that especially naval quality – zeal, he became Schanck’s right-hand man. Here was the start of another lifelong friendship.


Here, too, was a worthy outlet for Pellew’s athleticism. At St John’s, where every day counted and vessels were taking shape beside Lake Champlain even as the summer slipped away, more was at stake than mere display. By mid-September the Inflexible had been relaunched and Pellew was high on a tripod sheer, trying to raise the mainmast, when the entire assembly collapsed. He had time just to leap clear, so instead of falling to almost certain death on the deck, he plunged into the water. ‘Pellew! He’s gone!’ Schank exclaimed, for it was taken for granted seamen were not swimmers. Then a head burst clear of the water and, to cheers, Pellew swam back to the side.6


In addition to rebuilding the ship and two schooners, Schanck’s corps hewed and raised a flotilla of almost thirty fighting vessels out of the surrounding forests by October. Surveying their handiwork, their commander, Sir Charles Douglas, the senior Navy officer in Canada, declared that it ‘almost exceeds belief’. Morale might have been boosted by the optimistic if flawed reports received about events to the south – ‘of our troops beating the rebels at New York and taking their general, Lee, prisoner’.7 But there was also an aspect of the lakes campaign that showed British tars at their best. Douglas wrote that they had:




… far beyond the limits of their duty, exerted themselves to the utmost on this great and toilsome occasion; nor has a man of that profession uttered a single word expressive of discontent amid all the hardships they have undergone.8





Their exertions had, nevertheless, occupied the entire summer. When it sailed from St John’s on 9 October, the flotilla was certainly strong enough for its purpose, to win control of the lake from Benedict Arnold’s naval force. The question was whether it was already too late in the year for the overall objective to be achieved.




*





Pellew had won the approbation of one, fairly junior, officer at St John’s. Thanks to his first battle, he came to the attention of a far more influential circle. A small-scale operation with a good deal at stake was a fine theatre in which to be seen as able, courageous and zealous, and he seized his moment.


The flotilla proceeding south on Lake Champlain under a following wind was led by Captain Thomas Pringle in the schooner, Maria. The second schooner, Carleton, was in the hands of twenty men from the Blonde, including Pellew, under Lieutenant James Dacres. As senior lieutenant, and in recognition of his labours at St John’s, Schanck had the Inflexible. In their wake came twenty-five gunboats and dozens of bateaux carrying troops.


Arnold, the American commodore, had formed up his flotilla line of battle in a narrow strait between the western shore of Lake Champlain and the little island of Valcour. His fifteen armed vessels, including three schooners, were not only outnumbered but outgunned, with their heaviest weapons 18-pounders against 24-pounders. Pringle, however, came close to squandering his advantage. Early on the morning of 11 October, he passed to the east of the island without discovering the Americans. It took two of Arnold’s schooners to emerge from the strait, firing their guns, to attract his attention. But now the British flotilla had to work up against the wind to come to action.
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The action on Lake Champlain where an American flotilla emerged from the strait off Valcour Island to confront British vessels was Pellew’s first experience of battle.








The gunboats, single-masted and easier to manoeuvre, were first into position, and suffered severely under the Americans’ fire while the larger vessels were still battling against the wind. It was the Carleton that came to their relief. Soon after noon, and long before Inflexible and Maria could get up, Dacres inserted his schooner in front of the gunboats and dropped anchor opposite the Americans. Carleton began to engage broadside-to-broadside with a line of schooners, galleys, gondolas and a cutter – her 6-pounders set against double the number of 12-pounders.


Within minutes of finding himself in battle for the first time, Pellew had men falling around him. Dacres went down, then the second-in-command, Brown. And in that moment he was not only in action, he was in command.


Few first-hand records exist of the Battle of Valcour Island and the only source for Pellew’s part in it is Sir Charles Douglas, who was not even there and was relying on what he had learnt from those who were. What can be said is the mate’s conduct made a profound impression on all of them.


The Carleton remained blazing away from her position, ‘nearly in the middle of the rebel half-moon, anchored with a spring on her cable’.9 Her hands had been together on the Blonde, they knew one another and they trusted the shipmate who had taken command. Their gunnery was also good enough to hit vessels in the American line repeatedly, including the schooner Revenge. At the same time, the Carleton was coming under additional fire from riflemen on the shore and would suffer a frightful rate of casualties – 70 per cent. But they stayed in position, exchanging blow for blow while being steadily withered, until Pringle observed their plight while striving vainly to work the Maria up into the strait and signalled Pellew to withdraw.


This posed a new test. Although the cable holding Carleton at anchor was cut, she would not come round. Pellew, rather than order one of his fellows into danger, then exposed himself by going out on the bowsprit to pull the jib around to catch the wind. Still she stayed broadside on, receiving fire, until two of the gunboats came up to the rescue. Again Pellew himself swung out on the bowsprit, casting them a rope so she might be towed clear.


In the meantime, while Carleton’s gunners kept their posts, the outcome had been resolved by Schanck’s perseverance in Inflexible. Coming up with the American vessels late in the afternoon, she introduced 24-pounders to the battle, at which, Douglas reported, ‘Five broadsides silenced their whole line.’10


That night Arnold withdrew under the cover of a fog blanketing the lake, but his escape was brief. Pringle caught up with him at the southern end and a two-hour action sealed matters. Of Arnold’s fifteen vessels, all but four were sunk, taken or burned.


The Battle of Valcour Island was the US Navy’s first action. Though it counted as a defeat, Arnold had held up the British and left eighty dead against forty Americans. Crucially, his presence on the lake had thwarted an army advance down the Hudson towards New York until another winter had passed.


For Pellew, too, it was a transforming encounter. A mere rating, he had taken command, exposed himself repeatedly throughout and demonstrated judgement as well as the sort of hot courage that swung battles. He had also shown another quality – luck. Despite his size and his prominence, he had come through unscathed while eight out of the Carleton’s crew of twenty were dead and six wounded. In a highly superstitious fraternity, that counted.


He had also seized his moment. Exhilaration at victory and survival was followed by recognition in the form of high praise from Dacres, who survived his wound, and Sir Guy Carleton, the Governor of Quebec, who had observed the action from the flagship. Their reports elicited a letter to Pellew from Douglas, the Navy commander in Quebec:




The account I have received of your behaviour on board the Carleton schooner in different actions with the Rebels on the Lakes, gives me the warmest satisfaction, and I shall not fail to represent it in the strongest terms to the Earl of Sandwich and also to my Lord Howe and recommend you as well deserving a Commission for your Gallantry.11





Pellew could have had no stronger endorsement. Sandwich was First Lord at the Admiralty, Vice-Admiral Howe the Navy commander in America. With testimonials in such exalted quarters, Pellew’s promotion to lieutenant was almost assured on his return home. As another savage winter closed in, forcing suspension of hostilities, a glow of achievement sustained him.




*





He spent the winter of 1776 in Quebec. A large part of the British contingent sailed home, including his own ship, the Blonde, taking Burgoyne with her. Pellew had been appointed to command of the Carleton, but because she was frozen on the lake he repaired down the St Lawrence where, for the time being, he was entered temporarily on the Garland.12


Whether his sudden rise to prominence brought with it privileges – access to the relative comforts of the Governor’s circle – is not clear. In terms of rank he remained a lowly master’s mate, and it is more probable that, as the temperature plummeted to -20 °C in November, he was among the crewmen clustered below decks, beating their hands and huddling together as the river froze over, relieved only by the meagre comforts indicated in the Garland’s log:




Got on board 3 stoves to preserve the People from inclemency of the weather. Abundance of snow. Ice in the river.13





It got still colder. Ice froze all activity besides the business of staying warm. But one of Pellew’s skills may have been nourished in an otherwise barren winter. He was still with Schanck, and Schanck had a special knowledge of what made a good sailing ship – and how even a bad ship could be made better. As a captain, Pellew would demonstrate a grasp of ship design which may have been instilled over grim, cold evenings with Schanck.


Another bond was also in the making. Pellew had probably met Alexander Broughton while they were still on the lakes. Broughton was senior not only in rank and age – a midshipman and five years older – but came from a quite different class, a wealthy and well-connected Staffordshire family. Whether their friendship would have flourished at sea, even in the comparatively egalitarian environment of the Navy, is an open question. But Broughton had engaged in all the hardships at St John’s – ‘shipbuilding, house-making, cutting down and drawing timber, etc’ – as well as serving in the action at Valcour, and had suffered so acutely ‘being much exposed to the rain and cold, with severe duty night and day’ that his health never entirely recovered.14 With their shared privations, the strongest friendship of Pellew’s life began.


It was not until Burgoyne’s return in the spring of 1777 that Quebec operations were resumed. Pellew was reunited at the same time with his brother, John. Aged just seventeen, the youngest of the Pellew boys had arrived with Burgoyne’s forces, a plain foot soldier in a regiment recruited in the West Country. He had joined the military in as lowly a role as his older brother had begun his naval career.15


If Burgoyne did not immediately recognise the acrobat of the yardarm, he was soon reminded of him as Pellew, commanding the Carleton again, helped to land an army of 7,000 men, along with artillery, on the south shore of Lake Champlain for an attack on the Fort Ticonderoga garrison. Burgoyne noted Pellew’s new status among his fellows and decided he could be useful on the waterways with a company of seamen. Rather than an officer, it was the master’s mate who was asked to accompany the troops and command the Navy contingent.


The operation was doomed before it began. Fatally, no orders had been issued to the British forces in New York to advance up the Hudson to join Burgoyne and so, although the American soldiers were soon driven from Ticonderoga, their retreat created an illusion. There were plenty more where they were going. Burgoyne’s army was floundering south, into the arms of a superior force.


Once they left the lake, Pellew and his tars operated on the Hudson, transporting provisions and scouting, while the army moved overland. Sustaining a force of such a size across so extended a line became increasingly challenging. The terrain was tough, disease broke out, desertions began. In six weeks after taking Ticonderoga, the army advanced barely seventy miles before reaching the Hudson, where Pellew and his party were building a bridge. As Burgoyne said to him wryly later, Pellew’s bridge would carry them all to disaster.


On crossing the Hudson, they came to a place called Saratoga and the American line where the first of two battles was fought on 18 September. Burgoyne kept the field but lost 600 men, and over the next two weeks was surrounded as American reinforcements arrived on the scene. Amid skirmishing prior to the second battle, John Pellew was killed.


Pellew never wrote about the impact of this tragedy on him and family history is equally silent on the subject. Edward was not close, it is known, to the eldest boy, Samuel, but during the upheavals of their boyhood years he had become devoted to the younger, Israel.16 Given his powerfully paternalistic bent, he would have felt bitterly the loss of another vulnerable and even younger sibling.


Edward threw himself into the final days of the Quebec army with reckless abandon and a last flourish which took place, fittingly enough, on the Hudson, where the Americans had seized a barge containing 650 barrels of provisions – two thirds of what Burgoyne had left. With a small party in boats, Pellew crossed the river under fire, boarded the barge and recaptured it. According to a witness, the rope broke as they were towing it back – at which Pellew plunged in with another line, secured it, and brought the barge safely in.17


Burgoyne himself was watching and wrote to Pellew, congratulating him on:




… the Gallantry and address with which you conducted your attack … The Courage displayed by your little party was deserving of the success which attended it; and I send you my sincere thanks, together with that of the Army for the important service you have rendered.18





Ultimately, it made no difference. Burgoyne was left with fewer than 4,000 men, outnumbered roughly three to one, cut off and facing another winter without supplies. The council he summoned on 13 October, and to which Pellew was invited, had no option but to accept surrender. Pellew argued that the naval corps ought to be exempt and he should be allowed to lead the tars through the American line, back to Quebec, but was over-ruled.


Burgoyne did, however, grant him one last honour. After the surrender on 17 October, Pellew was sent home with dispatches, sparing him the sufferings of the army during their winter captivity, and allowing him to arrive in London while his exploits were fresh in memory.




*





The young man who presented himself at the Admiralty in December 1777 cut an unusually bold figure for a master’s mate. He had left England a plain seaman, rated able, twenty months earlier. He returned with accolades from the great and powerful, testimonials which claimed attention and, for a while, received it. Howe, the Navy commander in America, had praised ‘Your gallant behaviour’.19 From the Admiralty, Lord Sandwich had written: ‘You have been spoken to me for your good conduct in various services in so handsome a manner that I shall receive great pleasure in promoting you to Lieutenant.’20


Now, as well as his testimonial from Burgoyne, he brought a valedictory paean from Sir Guy Carleton, describing him as ‘… a young man to whose Gallantry and Merit during two severe Campaigns in this country I cannot do justice’.21


Few cases illustrate so clearly why a naval career held out such attractions to able and ambitious commoners in eighteenth-century England. When the Army remained in the control of aristocrats and wealth, Pellew was proof of what might be achieved in the Navy by everyman. Yet, though distinctive, he is at this point still a relatively one-dimensional figure. We see a man of formidable strength and stamina, his youthful bumptiousness channelled into an ardour for service, one who showed not so much courage under fire as utter fearlessness. The voice of the inner man would take more time to emerge.
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